I Carried You…….
…….all along the road you travelled.

A re-typed copy of the History of Chichester Carmel by Sister Mary Joseph
INTRODUCTION

It is not such a far cry from St. Teresa’s Avila in the 16th Century to Chichester’s Carmel in the 21st; from the irresistible Santa in her covered cart to the white bee-hives humming busily in a convent orchard beneath the Sussex Downs; for an unbroken thread binds the two together.

It has been said that Anne of Jesus had a burning desire for the salvation of the English.  Be that as it may, she it was who led the little hand of Carmelite nuns out of Spain some twenty years after Teresa’s death.  Parish was their goal, and, to all intents and purposes, France was to be the field of their labours.  As it turned out only one of the Spanish nuns stayed to work in France, the others making their was to the Netherlands, taking with them the Constitutions which Anne of Jesus had taken the precaution of having approved by the Holy See in 1588 and 1590.

For the wealthier English Catholics the Low Countries provided a fairly safe refuge from the Penal Laws then in force in England.  Sop it came about that the youthful Anne Worsley made the acquaintance of the great Anne of Jesus, Prioress of the Brussels Carmel.  In the parlour of the Royal Convent, built some four years before in the Archdukes’ park, the two Annes conversed on the subject of the Carmelite vocation and the Mother Teresa.  In the Carmel of Mons which she soon entered, Anne Worsley heard more of these things from the other Spanish Mothers, Blessed Anne of St. Bartholomew, Eleanor of St. Bernard and Isabel of St. Paul.  In this way was formed the young religious who were to govern the first English Carmel.

Early in the year 1619, Anne of Jesus, now in her seventy third year and a prey to the maladies which were crucifying her, names the nuns who were to begin the English foundation at Hopland in Antwerp.  Anne of the Ascension (Worsley) in spite of her youth, was the first Prioress.

Peace reigned in the Netherlands under Archdukes, but Isabella’s death in 1633 left the country a prey to the avarice of its neighbours.  France, Spain, Holland and Austria made of it a battlefield for many years.  During this stormy period a second English Carmel was founded in Lierre, sent out from Hopland by Teresa Ward, the sister of Mary Ward.

In England the Commonwealth, virtually a military take-over, brought with all the usual excesses. The Royal family wandered from France to Cologne and back to Flanders, where Queen Henrietta took her three boys to visit the Hopland Carmelites, and where Charles’ niece, Princess Louisa of Bohemia, was received into the Church and hidden in the enclosure from the wrath of her parents.  Hopland, the fruitful mother of children, set on foot the third English Carmel in 1678 at Hoogstraet in Brabant.
The charism of prayer was poured out in full measure of those Carmels, where the silence was so profound that young Princess Louisa declared that during her stay in the Hopland Carmel she could easily have believed that she was alone in the house.

The tapping of typewriters, the whirring of sewing machines and kitchen gadgets, to say nothing of the monsters that roar round the vegetable garden, were unknown and would have been firmly excluded.

Who will find us a real desert, where no sound but the praise of God rising from the throats of his innocent creatures would break the silence!  Our interior silence needs to grow deeper – silence of the mind, heart the desires. May the Spirit of the Living God fall on us with his silence wherein the Father speaks his Word!

******    

In 1678 Mary Gabriel de la Laing, Countess of Hoogstraet, obtained from the Hopland Carmel a ground of nuns to make a foundation on some of her property.  The Deed of Foundation was drawn up on August 18th 1678, and the new Carmel began with ten members in two old houses and a garden. The only water supply came from a well outside the enclosure, shared by the neighbours.  

The cross is the sign of God’s favour, and it came soon enough with the death of the saintly prioress, Ann of St. Mary (Harcourt) three weeks after the foundation.  She was succeeded by 81 year old Sister Aloysia, a forthright character, who, at the age of nineteen, with two of her sisters had fled from England to follow her vocation in the Hopland Carmel, defying the opposition of her father.  To her fell the duty of clothing three new members, one of the being the Countess’s eldest daughter, a girl of seventeen who too the name Mary Teresa.  In her case the ceremony was very splendid, and her bejewelled dress of cloth of sliver was made into a set of vestments.

These early years bore out the truth that religious persecution is the seed bed of genuine vocations.  There was a regular inflow of earnest young people, mostly teenagers, who made the commitment for life after a bare twelve months in the convent and never looked back.  It is true that the life they embraced was hardly more severe than their life at home, but these young girls joyfully accepted strict enclosure and a hard life of quite grim poverty.   The endowment was not nearly sufficient for the upkeep of the community, the repairs to the old building consuming most of the money, and many of the English dowries were not paid.  The life offered a challenge indeed – a challenge cheerfully accepted.  No doubt the news from England was a constant stimulus to sacrifice.  Martyrdom was in the air, for this was the time of the Titus Oates Plot, which claimed victims known to the nuns, who received relics of these martyrs – locks of hair clandestinely cut from the heads exposed on London Bridge, or pieces of linen soaked in blood.  All these were received with holy joy and enthusiasm.
According to the Deed of Foundation the prioress of the Hoogstraet Carmel must always be an English woman, but the Countess’s family could not be excluded from that office.  A traumatic term fell to the lot of Sister Mary Teresa, who was elected in 1696.  One of the frequent Wars of Succession was raging so near Hoogstraet, which was almost on the Dutch border, that the Countess insisted on the community migrating to her palace in Mechlin for safety.  Mechlin Castle was anything but a convent.  Nevertheless the whole community, Fr. Yorke S.J., the chaplain for over twenty years and two maids settled in as well as they could.  A dozen years were to pass in that exile, and some noteworthy things happened during those years.

The outstandingly Yorkshire element in the community was augmented by four more young girls from that part of the world.  They emerged victorious from a veritable baptism of hardship, for the privations of the Mechlin exile were great indeed.  The Countess died at Antwerp leaving the community without a patron in a town which had not much use for an English Carmel since it had one of its own.  Fr. Yorke, no longer young, died before the end of the first year, and, at various times during the remaining eleven years, six of the nuns followed him.

Two years passed before his successor, a young Jesuit, only two years ordained, appeared.  In spite of his youth, Fr. Aynsco was endowed with a store of practical common sense and a well-tried sanctity.  One morning he informed Mother Margaret Ignatia, who had succeeded Mother Mary Teresa as prioress, that Mother Catherine had paid him a visit in his room the previous night.  Since this good mother had died a few months before, Reverend Mother was alarmed and wanted to know what this was all about.  He admitted that the message was a word of encouragement for himself, but also a prediction of calamity in store for all religious in the Low Countries.  The Hoogstraet nuns would suffer more that the other English Carmelites, but in the end would prosper the most.  No more information could be extracted from Fr. Aynsco although he wrote it all down.  After his own death the nuns expected to find the details, but he had taken the precaution of burning all his papers.

******
In 1712 the community was able to return to Hoogstraet, and a song composed for the occasion suggested that there was a celebration as was only right.

Although the sight of their old home was a joy to the nuns, they faced a debt of £200 and a house in desperate need of repair.  For many years life was hard, but in 1713 the burden was lightened by a great consolation.  One day during the Octave of Corpus Christi as Fr. Aynsco was elevating the Host he noticed it was heavy, and, laying it down on the corporal he saw within it the face of Christ, resplendent with beauty and majesty.  Some of the nuns also saw the vision through the grate, and it seemed to them that Our Lord turned to them with a loving smile.  At the Pater Noster the vision disappeared, but not before a young convert kneeling in the chapel had seen it.  With it she received the grace of vocation and entered the community as Monica Joseph.  Preserved are two relics of this event: the picture which Fr. Aynsco had had painted, and the heavily embroidered vestment he was wearing on that occasion, since known as the ‘miracle vestment.’

Fr. Aynsco’s sanctity was so well known to the people of Hoogstraet that after his death in 1734 his intercession was publicly and successfully invoked during the violent storms which annually damaged the crops.  

Nicholas Leopold, Duke of Hoogstraet, was now the patron of the Carmel founded by his grandmother.  By his first wife, Dorothy, he had nineteen children, whom he brought up on strict Christian principles.  As one of his daughters was getting into a carriage to accompany her mother he overheard her complain of the colour of her shoes.  Calling a footman he said ‘Fetch this young lady a pair of holly blocks’ and thus shod she went visiting with her mother.  On another occasion one of his sons, who was destined for the priesthood, was unlucky enough to appear in a suit adorned with gold buttons.  The horrified Duke exclaimed ‘What!  Gold buttons, and you going to be a priest’ and sending for the tailor he had the butters removed, there and then.  The Princesses, his daughters, delighted in the privilege of entering the enclosure to lead a novice through the choir on the day of her profession. One of these young ladies took the opportunity to whisper in the ear of the novice ‘There is still time for you to change your mind’, whereas there was not, as the vows had already been made.  The son with the gold buttons later became Bishop of Tournai and the Archbishop of Prague, where his influence at the Imperial Court was a protection for the Hoogstraet Carmel during the reign of Joseph II.
After the death of Duchess Dorothy, the Duke married again, and the name of his second wife, Christina, was therefore often given to a novice.  Sister Christina Teresa, clothed in 1754, was cousin to Dame Anselma of the Cambrai Benedictines, who died in prison at Compiegne in 1794.  Five novices entered in that year, 1754, two of them coming from Maryland.   Anne Hill was a cousin of Archbishop John Carroll.  She was clothed as Ann Louis Teresa Joseph, but was always referred to as Ann Louis.  Her companion, Anne Matthews, aged twenty one, became Sister Bernadina Teresa Xaveria, know thereafter as Bernadina.

These five were still novitiate when sixteen year old Ann Douglass arrived.  One of her younger brothers, John, was destined to become the Vicar Apostolic of the London District.  Ann, clothed as Mary Augusta Ann Teresa, was to wield her pen, not very tidily, but to good effect, putting on record many of the adventures which befell the community.

The Penal Laws were still in force in 1760 when Ann Errington entered with some thrilling anecdotes to relate.  Stored in her memory was the day the pursuivants rushed into the house, searching for a priest supposed to be hiding there.  As the men seized Mr. Errington his small children clung to him sobbing bitterly.  This touched the officer in charge, himself the father of a young family.  He called to the men that a mistake had been made and they must look elsewhere.  ‘Your little children have saved you’ he whispered to Mr. Errington.  An unfortunate novice was clothed in 1767 as Mary Christina Leopoldina Francis, only the first and last name being her own choice.  This sister, in beautiful neat handwriting, also left notes on the doings of the community which have proved interesting and useful.

The suppression of the Society of Jesus in 1773 was felt as a blow by the community, for ever since its foundations the confessors had been supplied by the English Province.  As long as the community was in the Low Countries they continued to come from the same source, the last being Fr. Joris who accompanied the nuns to England in 1794.

*******

Sister Bernadina (Matthews) was made Mistress of novices as soon as she left the novitiate, and in 1774 she was elected Prioress.  As might have been expected things began to move quickly.  The convent needed to be put in good order and repair in view of the forthcoming Centenary, most of the work being done by the nuns.  

At the Centenary, August 18th 1778 the community numbered sixteen.  Their names head the account of the celebrations written by Sister Mary Christina.  The devoted townsfolk decorated the church both inside and out, together with as much of the outside of the convent they could reach.  Even the street was adorned with avenues of artificial trees, triumphal arches and pyramids.

There was a Triduum and an octave day, on each of which a Solemn High Mass was sung.  The Duchess and her suite dined in the nuns’ refectory on the first day, her Ladyship supplying good things both for the nuns and the people outside.  These latter entertained themselves in great style in the street, eating, drinking and dancing till all hours.  They even made huge fires by setting alight barrels of tar.  The week came to an end without mishap, and Carmel relapsed into silence with a sign of relief.

The ‘troubles’ foretold by Mother Catherine began after the death of the Empress Teresa Maria.  Her son, Joseph II, the ‘Mad Emperor’ set to work to close down the religious houses in the Netherlands, and confiscate their property.  Inventories were ordered to be made in all convents, but Hoogstraet was spared, partly by the patronage of the Bishop of Tournai, son of Duke Nicholas Leopold, persona grata at the Imperial court.

On the suppression of the Carmel of Ghent one of the English Members, Sister Mary Raphael (Faith Jarvis) asked to be received into the Hoogstraet community.  She brought with her a charming little wooden statue of St. Raphael, leading a small Carmelite nun. She recounted the distress she had felt on the occasion of her Golden Jubilee when the Provincial had given her leave to eat meat, since she had so faithfully abstained for fifty years!

*******

Two sisters from Sheffield, Mary Nicholas and Mary Joseph (Jessop) took the habit in 1785, and the following year three more Americans arrived, two of them nieces of Mother Bernadina.  Susanna and Ann Matthews were clothed as Mary Eleanor and Mary Aloysia, while their companion, Mary Mills, was given the name of Mary Florentine.

The Netherlanders, always chafing under the Austrian yoke, rose in rebellion in 1789.  Although Sister Mary Augusta did not quite understand what it was all about she jotted down the experiences of the community.  At one time the patriots swept through the town, at another the Imperial troops.  These were more feared than the patriots, and when a General with his staff billeted himself in the outquarters, the nuns were convinced they were about to be massacred.  Eventually the patriots gained the upper hand and everything clamed down.  Joseph II died in 1790 and by Easter the Imperial army had left the Netherlands.

All danger now being over, as they thought, the nuns began painting and repairing various parts of their old convent.  This was the year Mother Bernadina and her two nieces left to make the Foundation in Maryland.  Sister Clare Joseph from Hopland joined the founding party, providing a vital support to the young Carmel of Port Tobacco, for Mother Bernadina contracted a painful cancer which caused her death ten years later.  Meanwhile her old companion, Sister Ann Louis replaced her as prioress at Hoogstraet.

On October 9th 1792 Mother Eleanor and her sister, Adelaide Louise were received in the Hoogstraet community when their own Carmel of Valenciennes was supressed.  These two sisters whose family name was Bourdon de Maugre, brought with them many relics and books.  With perfect French courtesy they adopted all the customs of the house, and, although neither mastered the English language, they lived among their new sisters with the greatest charity.
General Dumouriez invaded the Netherlands and Hoogstraet was taken by the French in the Lent of 1793.    Sister Mary Augusta reports as follows: ‘On the first Sunday of Lent they plated the Tree of Liberty by the Town Hall with shooting, ringing of bells etc.  We were obliged to ring our bells and they made the magistrates of the town dance round the Tree.  On Palm Sunday there were so many of the French in the town one might almost have walked on their heads.  That night they intended to plunder the town and to massacre us but through the mercy of God they all got a fright and before 6 o’clock they all hurried out of the town.  A few of the Imperials came on Monday and took down the Tree of Liberty and burned the red cap, and on Good Friday the Prussians came and after that English Hollanders and all sorts of Allied armies.  They all left us on Easter Sunday morning…..’

Sister Elizabeth Joseph (Blocq) also from Valenciennes Carmel, was welcomed into the community.  She was in galloping consumption and died a very holy death about three months after her arrival.

As the French advanced into the Netherlands in 1794 the English religious fled before them, some passing through Hoogstraet on the way to the coast of Holland.  The Duke of York, who was at the head of th English troops, gave a passport to every religious who applied for one, with permission to go to any part of England.  In June the Carmelites of Lierre stayed a week with the Hoogstraet community on their way to Breda.  According to their Annals they found the ‘good mothers and sisters of hoogstraet enjoying an undisturbed tranquillity, quite unconscious of the threatened danger.’  Having alerted them to the peril of the situation they helped them to pack sone of their goods and then left for Breda to find a ship bound for England.

While the Lierre Carmelites were still in the convent ‘On Sunday night, betwixt eight and nine o’clock’ relates Sister Mary Augusta,  ‘all the community of the English Augstinians of Louvain arrived with their two confessors, Mr. Cateron and Mr. Southworth.  We lodged as many as we possibly could in the convent and outquarters, laying bolsters, pillows, blankets on the ground for them to sleep on.  The rest of their community and their pensioners were taken by our charitable neighbours to their hosues.  They left next morning and went to Breda.’
Hoogstraet was the last community to leave, putting off their departure until two days before Brussels was taken.  Then, having seen all their guests on their way, they packed up the best linen and silver, some of the vestments with the best of the bedding etc.  Each took her Office books and some managed to stow away small statues and other odds and ends.  Since they were not allowed to travel in their habits each one put together an outfit of table napkins, novices’ secular clothes and ceremonial veils.  The neighbours helped with the finishing touches.  

A deed was draw up, entrusting the convent to the magistrates, stating that the nuns intended to return and claim their property when the danger was passed.  In the event the convent was destroyed and the community never returned.

*******

Very early on Monday morning, July 7th 1794 Fr. Joris said Mass for the last time in the convent.  By 6am everything was ready, the nuns storing themselves and the luggage into wagons which kind friends had driven into the garden.  Mr. Van Bedaff’s carriage brought up the rear with Fr. Joris and Mother Anne Louis.  

As the crow flies, Breda is little more than fourteen miles north of Hoogstraet, but the party on wheels reach it only at noon, spending the rest of that day and the next night in the houses of friends, while Mr. Van Bedaff went to look for a ship to take them to England.  There was a Dutch boat sailing for Helvoet Sluys with a young man named Joseph already on board.  The captain and his crew were Catholics and joined the nuns in saying litanies.  By Wednesday afternoon they reached Helvoet Sluys and the passengers transferred themselves and their luggage to an English packet boat called ‘Prince of Wales.’  This time the crew were all Protestants and took some time to get used to their suspicious-looking passengers.

Sister Mary Augusta gives some details: ‘Fr. Joris agreed with the captin for forty guineas to take us to London, but notwithstanding there was a guinea to be paid for so many different things and such a loss on the money that it rose to fifty guineas.  The bargain made, we went on board with our luggage, straight out of one vessel into the other….  We took with us the young man Joseph who begged that favour of us as also did the Dutch captain for him….  Soon after we were on board the agent of all the British ships came on board.  We showed him the passport we had from the Duke of York and he said we had nothing to fear for with that passport we might securely go to any part of England.
‘On Thursday night the captain and the sailors got a great fright, and although we did not know the cause, we were in a fright too for we saw them run for the speaking trumpet.  The case was, they saw a French vessel and thought we were in danger of being attacked, but on speaking to them found they were only fishing, so that fright was soon over.  Notwithstanding, they could not be without fear of the French as the captain told us, for had we been attacked we would easily have been taken as our ship only carried two guns, but we thank God we got safe.

‘About one o’clock on Sunday morning July 13th as we were getting into the port, through want of care, we ran foul of a Man-of-war which had likely to have been of very bad consequence.  It broke some part of our shop but not as much as was with reason feared.  We were all extremely alarmed and our fright continued and we never ceased praying till we got in, which was about four o’clock.  After that we put on the cleanest and best clothes we had and made ourselves ready to land, which we intended to do after we had taken coffee.  The custom house officers came on board and visited the little bundles we intended to take with us, but they were very civil and informed us we might not land till we had permission from the head officer of the custom house who was then asleep, but as soon as possible they would get us the leave.  At six o’clock the leave came for us to land.  We gave some money to the custom house officers that were on board, for which they were grateful.  We were also obliged to give some to the captain to content him, although he had been more than paid already.  We left in the ship all our luggage, which was to go to the custom house on Monday.  We also left our provisions of tea, coffee, sugar, wine, brandy etc. never doubting but that we should get them with the rest of the goods, but we were much mistaken for we never saw them again.  This surprised us much, but it was our ignorance that made us surprised for we were told afterwards by those that knew, the custom that all the provisions that are left belong to the sailors, so no wonder we never got them.  We all then went out of the ship into a board which was to turn us to St. Catherine’s Stairs where we landed.  We took the young man Joseph with us.’

Bishop Douglass had lent his own house at Hammersmith to the Augustinian Canonesses of Louvain and was living with his brother in Bedford Square.  To this house the travellers were escorted by a kind-hearted stranger who had watched them land.  Bishop Douglass wished the nuns to remain in London under his care, but Reverend Mother had other views and intended to find a house in the country.  In the meantime a Mrs. Bailey, who kept a girls’ school at Brook Green, gave them hospitality.
‘The Bishop’s man got the young man Joseph , whom we brought with us and who was a tailor by trade, very well settled with a tailor at Hammersmith, where he got a guinea a week’ relates Sister Mary Augusta.  ‘He only stayed about two or three months for all that could be said or done to him, nothing would content him but to go back to Holland.  Therefore he went against the advice of all that wished him well, for most likely he would fall into the hands of the French; at least, we have never heard more of him!’

*******

‘On Monday morning the 14th, some of us were going to go to London to the Custom House about our goods, for they were all to be there that morning, and it was absolutely necessary either some of us or some friend should be there to manage the business for us and to own our goods.  Therefore the Bishop got Miss Kitty Tunstall to manage the whole business for us.  She went to London on the Monday morning and managed all the business very well for us.  There were several guineas to be paid, for there was so much to be paid for every ounce of silver, I do not remember how much, as well as for other things, but she prevailed with them to abate something of the expense.  

‘There lived at Mrs. Bailey’s a very charitable good French priest called Dancell who had great regard and esteem for the Bishop, as had also the Bishop for him.’  This was Abbé Dancell, a distinguished professor at the College d’Harcourt in Paris, well known during his exile in England, and for seven year Professor of Philosophy at St. Edmund’s.  ‘This good gentleman had taken great pains to find a house for us, but he could not find one but a small one at Fryer’s Place, E. Acton belonging to Esq. Tubbs who lived very near it.  Mrs. Bailey informed the Bishop of this house the day we arrived at her house, and on Tuesday the 15th Mrs. Bailey took some clothes she had and dressed Mother Sub-prioress, Sister Mary Oswaldina and myself very neatly, for many of our goods were that day to come from the Custom House to my brother James’ country house, and for many reasons it was necessary some of us hould be there ready to receive them.  Fr. Joris, Fr. Dancell and Sister Mary Oswaldina walked there while the Bishop came in a post chaise and took Mrs. Bailey and myself to Fryer’s Place to see the house.  Mrs. Tubbs and her daughters came to show it us but nothing was decided.  Mr. Tubbs was not at home but it was agreed on Friday he should come to Mrs. Bailey’s to consult about it.  We then returned and left Mrs. Bailey at Brook Green and took up Mother Sub-prioress and went to my brother’s country house, where every moment we were expecting our goods, when to our great surprise Mrs. Bailey sends an express to inform us they had brought the goods to her and she had sent them to Fryers Place.  Fr. Dancell, not thinking it was safe to have the goods at Fryers Place without somebody being in the house, he therefore walked there, which is about three miles from Brook Green and slept on the ground along in the house that night.
‘Wednesday the 15th, feast of our dear Blessed Lady of Mount Carmel, we all went to our devotions at Mrs. Bailey’s, and after dinner Mother Sub-prioress with three more choir nuns and the two lay sisters went in a coach to the house at Fryers Place and took possession, and from that time we called it Mount Carmel.’  This was the very day the Carmelites of Compiegne were martyred in Paris.  ‘On Saturday the 19th Fr. Joris and six more nuns went, taking with them all things necessary, for Fr. Joris to say Mass, which he does every day.  There were now only left at Mrs. Bailey’s Reverend Mother, Sister Mary Christina and myself.  We went to our devotions on Sunday, and on Monday after dinner Mrs. Bailey and Miss Bishop, a young lady who boarded at Mrs. Bailey’s, accompanied us to our new little convent called Mount Carmel.

‘All that had their habits had put them on to their great joy on Sunday, and we put ours on, on Tuesday morning, and in the space of two or three more days, all got their habits except the two lay-sisters, who remained in secular all the time we were in that house.  The Bishop consented to have them have their habits as well as the rest but so many of our friends were so very frightened that it would cause disturbance among the lower sort of people if they saw them in the religious dress that the Bishop consented to let them remain in secular, for, although Fr. Joris was so extremely good and charitable to us as to take the trouble on himself to be porter to avoid as much as possible any of us being seen, notwithstanding it was not in his power to do all the business himself, therefore it was not possible but that often the lay-sisters must be present to take in the provisions.  Notwithstanding, they were never permitted to go out of the enclosure, more more than the rest of the community.’
*******

‘Fryers Place is a green or plain surrounded with fields. Mr. Tubb’s house is a few minutes walk from ours on one side, and a widow lady was hers a little nearer on the other side. There are some small houses on different parts of the green and one at the end of our garden.  Our house has a good sized garden enclosed some part with a wall, on another with rails and the other with boards.  There were different sorts of fruit trees and bushes, greens and flowers.  On one side of the house was a grass plot and just but it a coach yard, house and stable.  Our house is very small, nine rooms counting garrets – a larder, a kitchen, a cellar or two, a small wash house with a copper and oven, but we never made us of it as it would cost us more trouble and expense than it was worth.  Therefore all we had baked, Mrs. Tubbs got it baked for us in her oven, which they did with pleasure.  We also had a pump, but the water was so bad we could never us it for cooking, therefore we were obliged to send to Acton for water which all had to do that lived on that green, and Acton is a mile from us which made it very expensive for us for we had to pay a man to fetch it for us.

From the house we have a beautiful and extensive prospect over London, which is about six miles from us.  The air is wholesome though a little sharp.  Fr. Joris got a little boy to live with us, he went errands and served Mass.  To save expense we washed our clothes ourselves, the two lay-sisters, myself and three of the other choir nuns undertook to be the washerwomen and we succeeded very well, indeed it was then for different reasons necessary that we should act so.  We put ropes up in the coach house and stable, and also in the garden when the weather was fit to dry what we washed.’

*******

‘We fixed such a place for the enclosure, which we carefully observed, and only waked in that part of the garden that was less exposed to be seen by seculars, and we also on those occasions put on a cloak, hat and apron or something that the full habit might not be seen.  I cannot think such precautions were necessary but some of our well-wishers were afraid for us for fear the strangeness of our dress might draw a mob about us, which would certainly have given us a great fright.

‘When we were at Mrs. Bailey’s all care was taken to procure us the allowance from the government, a guinea each of us a month.  Indeed if it had not been for that assistance and others which our relations and friends gave us, we must have starved, for what property we have in England is not sufficient to maintain one of us.  Also the unbounded charity, compassion and benevolence, not only of our own relations, but of others to whom we were, till then, entire strangers and several of them were Protestants, which makes it more surprising.  My intentions in mentioning these is that as long as our community should subsist, which I hope will be to the end of the world, they may unite in rendering due thanks, praise and glory to Almighty God for his wonderful providence over us, and may never forget to pray for our benefactors.’
‘It pleased Almighty God on Sunday 14th September to permit a very great cross to befall us, which was as follows:  As we were in the choir at Meditation betwixt 5 and 6 o’clock in the evening, it rang very briskly at the gate, as if something were wanting in a great hurry.  Fr. Joris went to wee what was the matter. It were three or four men who were very resolute with Fr. Joris and insisted on being in the house, saying they were Custom House officers that came with authority, and had it in their power to take Father away, threatening they would do it.  They rushed into the garden and some of the nuns ran and locked and bolted all the doors.  They threatened to break the windows.  One of them was much more impertinent than the others.  He said they had information that we had French lace, in fine they would come the next day and visit all the house.  At last they all went away to our great joy, but poor Fr. Joris was almost dead with fright, and indeed it hurt us all very much.  What made it more distressing was that r. Tubbs and family were, two or three weeks before, gone avisiting many miles off and did not return till towards the end of the month.

The next day we spent in great fear of their coming, but they never came more, for it was all a cheat and, if we had so pleased, we could have made them suffer much for it.  This affair afflicted much our friends, and the Right Honourable Mrs. Talbot brought us the bells which we now use to ring to prayer, Mass, Vespers and Matins, so that in case of any more alarm we might ring it out of the windows, to the end our neighbours hearing it, might come to our assistance.  Thank God we have as yet had no need of making that use of it, and it is of great service to us for ringing us to prayer etc.’

From the above it seems the nuns were making the best of a bad job, judging by the opinion of Mr. Charles Butler, who often visited them.  ‘In a village near London, a small community of Carmelites lived for several months almost without the elements of fire, water or air. Water was a vendable commodity they could ill afford to buy.  In the midst of this severe distress, which no spectator could behold unmoved, they were happy, submission to the will of God, fortitude and cheerfulness never deserted them.  They seemed in another world.’

*******

Unfortunately this was the period of the bitter disagreement between the Bishop and the members of the Catholic Committee, many of whom were doing all in their power to help the religious.  Foremost among them was Mr. Charles Butler, who lent his own house to the Lierre community while they were looking for a permanent home, and gave much help to the Hoogstraet nuns.

Mother Ann Louis was anxious to move out of London to avoid the constant stream of visitors who made it almost impossible for the nuns to observe their rule.  Sir John Webb offered one of his country houses, very suitable but in a ruinous condition from neglect.  The laternative was Canford House in Dorset, although he was not too keen to part with it, and insisted on keeping the possession of it, allowing the community to live there ‘till the last conflagration.’  Lady Shaftesbury, his daughter, and only legitimate child, took an interest in them, and Thomas Weld of Lulworth became a loyal friend.

Charles Butler’s part in this affair widened the rift between himself and Bishop Douglass who wanted the community to remain near London under his care.  He had even offered them Hammersmith House, which the Canonesses of St. Augustine were leaving.  The Bishop’s attitude hindered Charles Butler in his efforts for the nuns.  His last act of kindness was the collection of £50 to defray the expense of the journey from Fryers Place to Canford.  This journey has been described by Sister Mary Augusta and we cannot do better than transcribe her account.  She of course was sad to leave her brother.  Although she sensed his displeasure at the way things had turned out, she could not fathom the reason.  Her feelings are only expressed in her private letters to her brother, some of which are preserved in the Westminster archives.

‘Wednesday the 3rd of December was the day fixed upon for our departure.  We wished to go all together in one carriage, therefore the long coach which holds sixteen persons was bespoke for that purpose.  We desired the carriage might come to take us up at Fryers Place, but that it might not do, for there had passed an Act of Parliament that the long coaches might not go out of the road of their usual stages.  It was obliged to go through Hammersmith, and it always set off from London about six o’clock in the morning and in about half an hour would be at Hammersmith on Thursday morning.  Therefore it was necessary we should all of us on the Wednesday go to Hammersmith to be ready for the arrival of the coach the next morning.  

‘We being now in Advent, Wednesday was fast of the Church.  We therefore agreed with the nuns at Hammersmith that we should take a collation at noon before we left Fryers Place and take our dinner with them in the evening.

‘On Wednesday morning Fr. Joris said Mass.  Soon after the wagon came.  The carpenter took down the altar and we packed all up as soon as possible.  We had our upper dress secular and we were all very neat but nothing fine.  We all had bonnets and Mrs. Bailey lent us caps and kerchiefs. We were dressed in purple and white cotton. Mr. Tubb and Mr. Wegg lent us their carriages to take us to Hammersmith.  Most of us had taken our collation at Mr. Tubb’s house which they had earnestly begged us to do, and for that sent their coach for all that would go.  We took bread and elder wine.  They are Protestants, and expressed much sorrow that we would take nothing better.

‘We were received and entertained with much joy and hearty welcome by all our worthy and dear friends at Hammersmith House and they treated us well.  They had got for us some charming fish, fresh, and gave us an excellent dinner, and they made each of us accept of their beds.

‘Early on Thursday morning Fr. Cateron said Mass for us, after which we took our breakfast, for the following day being fast of the Church, and we having such a long journey to take, it was not judged proper that we should fast that of the Order on Thursday.

‘About the half hour after six o’clock in the morning Mr. Palmer arrived, Mr. Butler’s head clerk, with the long coach.  We all set off immediately, sixteen in number, we fourteen nuns and the two gentlemen, Mr. Joris and Mr. Palmer.  We had charming good weather all the journey, and so many of us in the coach made it as warm as was agreeable. We got to Winchester at about five o’clock in the afternoon, where we found ready for us, according to the orders of Mr. Palmer, an excellent fish dinner for us nuns – the two gentlemen ate flesh.  When we were at dinner there came to welcome us Ref. Mr. Milner and our worthy friend, Thomas Weld Esq. of Lulworth, who

Happened then to be in Winchester to our great joy.

‘As soon as possible after dinner we set off again for Southampton, arriving there about eight o’clock.  Here we lodged that night, and were as comfortably accommodated as could be expected.  They had contrived so that we were lodged three, four or five in a room, and the two gentlemen were also in one room.  We nuns had coffee and toast, the gentlemen took flesh, and we took a good bowl of punch which did us a great deal of good.

‘The next day Friday was Fast of the Church therefore all we could take was to drink a little tea or coffee.  Southampton was the last stage for the long coach but they were so gracious to us that they consented to carry us to Canford House. In the journey from Hammersmith to Southampton we frequently changed horses.  We never had less than six horses and sometimes we had eight, but from Southampton to Canford which is thirty miles or more we could have no change of horses.  The six we took at Southampton were obliged to serve the remainder of the journey, therefore we could not go so quick, and were also obliged to rest about an hour at Ringwood.  Whatever tavern we had to stop at we had always an apartment to ourselves where nobody entered but those necessary to serve us – except at Winchester, as I have said, the two gentlemen, Dr. Milner and Mr. Weld.
‘In the long coach as we travelled we said part of the Divine Office, each one to herself.  Everybody that saw us seemed to know we were nuns, and from Southampton to Canford it was really diverting to see how the people did run to see us and the long coach pass.  Such a carriage had never been seen in those parts before.

‘We arrived at Canford House near Wimborne Dorsetshire, on Friday the fifth of December 1794 about two o’clock.  Rev. Mr. Talbot came out to receive us and conducted us to the parlous where we dined, and after dinner he showed us the chapel and the house, except the apartments of the servants.  We soon saw the house was very old and great want of repair, but notwithstanding it might with money be made very comfortable for us.  Although we are in a valley the situation si very pleasant and the air mild and very wholesome.’

Dr. Milner wrote to Bishop Douglass after the Winchester episode ‘I have just seen your sister and the other ladies of Hoogstraet on their road to Canford.  Their journey was very ill planned, as Southampton is entirely out of  their road and is a very inconvenient and expensive place to sleep at.’

Bishop Douglass announced the arrival of the community to Bishop Walmesley of the Western District, who at once wrote a fatherly letter exhorting them to keep up the same spirit of fervour as at Hoogstraet.  In particular he wished the enclosure to be fixed, as much as possible not to allow others to enter, and to be as little as possible in the speakhouse.

*******

Settling down in Canford House was not at all easy.  The house was cold and damp, and many of the nuns contracted rheumatism and other ailments.  Fr. Talbot’s housekeeper was a source of trial as Sister Mary Augusta relates in her forthright style ‘Fr. Talbot was very much of a gentleman, of a cheerful and agreeable temper, and was civil and king to us but as to his housekeeper, she was entirely the contrary and did not seem to know well how to bear us in the house.  By degrees before she left us she was a little better but we had it hard enough.’

They also found the liturgical customs in England bleak after the full celebrations and ceremonies of Catholic Hoogstraet.  There was no altar of repose on Maundy Thursday, but they kept faithful watch all night in an empty chapel.

Fr. Talbot left Canford House in the spring of 1795, followed two days after by the housekeeper, to the relief of the nuns.  They now had the whole place to themselves, and with practically no visitors.  One unforeseen invasion is related by Sister Mary Augusta: ‘On Monday the 18th of May arrived here very unexpected the Rev. Mr. Milner with three monks of La Trappe from Switzerland, a Prior, a brother and a novice.  Mr. Milner was conducting them to their community at Lulworth who are under the protection of the pious and charitable gentleman Thomas Weld Esq.  As soon as they arrived which was about noon the three monks retired to the chapel and remained in prayer till their dinner was ready, which was hasty pudding, bread and cheese, and water their drink – poor indeed but they might not have anything better.  When all was ready they went to the little parlour where they dined.  Their grace was very long, they ate in silence, from time to time one of them ready in the book by Thomas a Kempis.  Fr. Joris served then at table.

‘As Rev. Mr. Milner was their superior for the time of their journey Rev. Mother prevailed with him that we might see them and get their blessing and ask their good prayers.  After their dinner they came to the recreation room where we were all assembled to receive them.  When they first entered the room they all made us a low bow with their eyes cast down.  The Prior gave his blessing. They spoke for a few minutes of Almighty God and then left us in the same manner they had entered, leaving us full of joy and edification at the great example they had give us.  We esteemed them all to be saints.’

*******

Now that the nuns had the house to themselves, Lady Shaftesbury was free to undertake repairs and alter the interior, the first requisite being cell life.  The cells were built on the first and second floors, so that by the 15th of October each nun had her cell.  This was the feast of St. Teresa and it was kept in style, the Weld family providing the singing and the altar service.

*******

In August 1792 the Carmelites of St. Denis were forced to disperse.  All the valuables of the convent were collected by the government officials, items of gold and silver being set to the Mint.  On the night of August 22nd the secretary of the Archbishop of Parish, Abbé Charlier,  assembled the community in the Chapter House and gave each a packet of relics.  These he sealed with the seal of the Order, urging the nuns to protect them from desecration.
Irish born Sister Mary Charlotte had entered the Carmel of St. Denis soon after the famous daughter of Louis XV, Madame Louise.  On leaving the convent this sister took with her many things belonging to Madam Louise, whom she venerated as a saint – her spoon, her drinking cup, her cell broom and the small death’s head she had kept on her table, a tunic and other articles including the beautiful figure of Christ torn by the soldiers who ransacked the convent from the massive silver crucifix sent to Madame Louise by Pope Clement XIV.  Sister Mary Charlotte had also secured several packets of relics which had proved an embarrassment to her companions.  She seems to have spent the next few years travelling on the Continent, eventually arriving in England, where Bishop Walmesley sent her to Canford House.  An English translation of a French life of Madame Louise, printed and published in 1808 abounds in Sister Mary Charlotte’s reminiscences of the years she spent in the company of the famous princess at St. Denis.

Sister Mary Charlotte, who seems to have been something of a character, kept her Silver Jubilee soon after coming to Canford.  For this occasion Sister Adelaide Louise painted a small picture of the jubilarian in her cell reading the lives of the Fathers of the Desert.  Among the French books she brought from St. Denis is a set of these lives in nine neat volumes, beautifully bound, printed in Avignon in 1764.  

Among the members of the Royal Family who used to visit Madame Louise at St. Denis was a small nephew, Charles.  He made great friends with Sister Mary Charlotte.  At the Restoration under Louis XVIII, Charles, now Duc de Berri, returned to the court.  Sister Mary Charlotte followed his adventures with affectionate interest, so that the news of his assassination at the age of forty two caused her to suffer a stroke.  She recovered but was thereafter hopelessly senile.

A strange story was told to the community by César, Comte de Pontgibaud who had studied under Fr. Marest at Valognes and remained devoted to the community.  The story goes that a friend of  César’s was with Louis XVIII when the young Duc de Berri accused his royal uncle of concealing the fact that the rightful king, who had as a small boy been imprisoned with his mother and reported to have died, was in fact still alive.  A furious argument followed and the Duc was ordered from the room.  The assassination occurred shortly after this interview.
*******

Although the winters at Canford House were cold in the extreme, the summers in that sheltered valley towards the south west of England could reach almost tropical heat.  One day in July of 1799 the young American nun, Sister Mary Florentine, died of sunstroke.  This was sad news for the group at Port Tobacco, who had set out from Hoogstraet nine years before and even now were anxious about the health of Mother Bernadine, who died the following year.  The American foundation was doing well, several girls waiting to enter, and already the community full with fourteen members.  After Mother Bernadine’s death Mother Clare Joseph held the reins, the little band flourishing under her leadership, becoming the root from which the majority of the American Carmels have sprung.
The former Prioress of Valenciennes Mother Eleanor and her invalid sister Adelaide Louse, had now been ten years with their English sisters sharing all their adventures and hardships.  Though Mother Eleanor had always been her sister’s strong support, she died several years before her.  At the moment of her death all the bells in the house rang by themselves.  Writing of this death to the American community Mother Mary Magdalen added ‘…during the years she lived with us she never gave the least occasion of mortification to any of the community, and so great was her love for each that she never saw the least fault in any of them.  On my showing surprise at this, she told me with the greatest candour and respect that she never sought after the faults of others, and so never found any.  She ever had a low opinion of herself and a very high one of everyone else.  She assured me to the last that she had always been perfectly happy with us, and expressed the most lively sentiments of gratitude to me and all the community for having accepted her and her dear sister…’

This peaceful co-existence was due in great part to Mother Eleanor’s exquisite courtesy.  She had made up her mind to drop any French customs not in use at Hoogstraet, and adopt every English one that was.  Actually there was not that much difference, but she insisted on being just like the Hoogstraet nuns.  A few days after their arrival, Mother Eleanor was seen at the foot of the stairs clapping her hands to her sister who was coming down lifting her habit in the French way.  Sister Adelaide Louise never learnt a word of English, but Mother Eleanor gained a little.  She would never allow the recreation to be interrupted for her sake, but if there was laughter she would ask her neighbour ‘tell me one word that I may laugh with them.’  Mother Eleanor’s concern for the community went with her to heaven, where her intercession must have been powerful, for some very good novices began to apply for admittance after the house had been nine years without any increase.

*******

Yorkshire provided the first aspirant as it had so often in the Hoogstraet days.  They were two sisters, daughters of a Yorkshire farmer, William Duck.  Anne was twenty two, a dark, handsome girl, energetic and forthright as became a Yorkshire woman.  Her sister, Alice, at twenty was fair, placid and gentle, a contrast in every way.  Anne took the habit with the name of Teresa Maria, while Alice became Teresa Joseph.  The two were accompanied by a country girl, Jane Snell, who entered as a lay sister with the name Ann Teresa.
Sister Maria Teresa was given the charge of the old French nun, Adelaide Louise, who was in need of help in various small ways.  Since the latter had not imbibed a word of English during the twelve years she had lived with the community, and the novice knew no French, their conversations were usually at cross purposes, which did not deter them from continuing to chat.  Sister Adelaide, admiring her young nurse’s bright face, would exclaim ‘Jolie’, to which the latter replied ‘Yes, very jolly.’
The two novices brought new life to the now ageing community, the youngest of the Hoogstraet nuns having reached the age of forty.  They must have felt at home with the small farm which had grown up on the Canford House property.  Usually three cows were kept, tended, including the rearing of the calves, by old Sister Francis.  A flock of South Down sheep provided wool for sale, and some for mending the habits.  The novices had discovered a spinning wheel and taught themselves to spin black wool for mending.  This was scarce, as there was a prohibitive tax on keeping a black ram, but the nuns managed to procure two black ewes.  The white wool sold very well, and, although this was a source of income, was not at all sufficient, it was a big help.  

The little noviciate was augmented, not to say considerably enlivened, by the advent of Elizabeth Houlding from Lancashire, which she proudly called ‘God’s own county.’  She was a live wire, with an inexhaustible fund of comic songs and stories.

One of the favourite songs was about a certain Jimmy Johnson, whose legendary charms won him such an embarrassing popularity that the last line ran ‘I wished I was as ugly as any one of you’ – and the singer made a low bow to the audience.

Yorkshire continued to supply novices.  A sister of the two Duck sisters, now fully members of the community, entered taking the name of Ignatia.  She was followed soon after by Ann Cox, from the same part of England.  Her father, a Methodist lay preacher, made no objection when Ann and her mother became Catholics, and Ann was sent to school at the Bar Convent.  She chose to enter as a lay sister, devoting herself to the two elderly sisters.  For many years she was the first to rise in the morning to light the kitchen fire and call the community.  She was one of those who lived to see the Chichester convent.  In fact it was this stalwart sister who accompanied her Prioress, Mother Mary Baptist, on those weary journeys in search of a building site.  
One day Lady Hartwell, who was staying in Bournemouth, brought her little four year old daughter, Louisa, to visit the nuns at Canford.  They were not Catholics, but Louisa never lost the impression made on her by the peace and joy of the nuns.  As she grew older her interest in the Catholic Faith increased until, at the age of twenty, despite the opposition of her family, she was received into the Church, together with her mother.  A vocation to Carmel declared itself leading her eventually to enter the Carmel of Ronciglione in Italy.

*******

By the law of Papal Enclosure secular persons were obliged to don the habit before taking up their abode in the cloister.  But at the beginning of the nineteenth century this prescription was superseded by another whereby every aspirant must spend a certain testing time in the convent before receiving the habit.  The postulant was to be suitably attired, and, to defer to the sensibilities of the older nuns, her head was to be covered with a kerchief.  The first two to conform to this regulation entered at Canford House in 1825.  Anne Carter hailed from Preston and took the name of Teresa of Jesus.  She was followed by Sarah Pendrell from Wolverhampton., who was given the name Mary Baptist of St. Joseph.  She was a direct descendant of the Pendrells who hid Charles II in the Boscobel oak and thus saved his life.  At his restoration Charles remembered the incident and generously endowed the family.  Sarah was one of John Pendrell’s eight children.  He was a great contemplative, often conversing with his Guardian Angel.  His favourite daughter, her feet firmly on the ground, inherited his deep faith and his contact with the unseen world.

Sarah came into a community which was in the throes of anxiety, for Lord de Mauley who had married Sir John’s only legitimate heiress was casting covetous eyes on Canford House, planning to turn it into a shooting lodge.  In exchange he offered the nuns Haltherop House, which was in such ruins that there could be no question of accepting it.  The negotiations ended in an agreements whereby Lord de Mauley was to give the community £800 on their leaving Canford.

Bishop Collingridge had sent to the community as chaplain an emigré French priest, Fr. John Baptist Marest, who had been living at the home of Lord Arundel of Wardour.  His father belonged to the French nobility, and only escaped the guillotine by the timely fall of Robes-Pierre.  At that time John Baptist was in Major Orders, and on his refusal to take the Constitutional Oath was sent into exile, arriving at King’s House Winchester where a large number of the exiled clergy were accommodated.   These French priests were overwhelmed by George III’s kindness and showed their gratitude by sowing ‘God save the King’ on the front lawn in water cress.
Having tried in vain to find another home in England for the community, Fr. Marest appealed to his former Bishop in Narmandy.  The result was the offer of an abandoned Bernardine monastery at Thorigny.

When giving his reluctant permission for the departure, Bishop Collingridge made three conditions: that the property of the community should remain in the name of the Bishop of the London District, that the community should retain its English character by receiving few French subjects, and never refusing English ones for want of a dowry; and, if the community did in fact become French, the whole of its English property should pass to the Carmel of Lanherne.

*******

The French Ambassador in London, the Price de Polignac, signed the passports on September 5th 1825 and the journey began ten days later.  At 10pm three carriages arrived at the gate of Canford House and the luggage and the nuns were packed into them, Sister Mary Anne and Sarah the postulant riding on top of the last carriage.  This journey to Poole Harbour and the boarding of the boat bound for Cherbourg provided entertaining recollections for years to come.  Sister Mary Anne’s disgust at the attentions of a dandy who offered to assist her on to the board was immortalized in verse twelve years later at her Silver Jubilee.

Religious habits were not allowed to be seen, so secular clothes were worn over them, while Sarah was in the large black velvet hat lined with pink satin and adorned with ostrich feathers in which she had entered.  It was four o’clock the next morning before the boat left the harbour for the voyage which took twenty one hours.  The sailors amused themselves by frightening the nuns, declaring that two sharks were following, a certain sign of shipwreck or a death on board.

At last Cherbourg was reached.  Assuring them that he would only be away a few minutes, Fr. Marest left the nuns at the quayside while he went in search of a carter to move the luggage.  His search took some hours.  Meanwhile the officials, suspicious of this group of strange looking persons, plied them with questions they could neither understand nor answer.  The upshot was the arrest of the whole community who were locked up in the local gaol where Fr. Marest discovered them on his return.  He had no difficulty in obtaining their release, but much in persuading the nuns to face the large crowd which had gathered outside the prison.

The next four days were spent in much needed rest in a hospital run by religious, and a further night’s hospitality was offered by the Augustinian nuns at Valognes.  Here they met an old friend, Abbé Dancell, now cure of the parish of Valognes and soon to be made Bishop of Bayeux.  Another night was passed with the Visitation nuns at St. Lo before they set out to take possession of the Thorigny convent.

A laysister of the Carmel of Rouen, known in the neighbourhood as Madame Francoise, had installed herself in the building with no intention of leaving it.  When Fr. Marest arrived accompanied by the community she bolted all the doors and refused to let them in.  Finally she resorted to mischief and turned on the taps of all the cider barrels in the cellar before she left.  She spent the remaining few years of her left trying to get money out of Fr. Marest, who cleared up the tiresome affair by paying 2,000 francs to her needy relatives.

Madame Cécile Porquet, an old Bernadine nun who had returned to her convent and was living there alone, welcomed the Carmelites with joy in spite of the language barrier which made communication wellnigh impossible. This situation was eased by the appearance of two nieces of Fr. Marest, Marie and Bonne, typical Norman teenagers who came to help, for there was much cleaning to be done.

Sister Mary Baptist, as Sarah now was, impressed the older nuns, who were not easily impressed, by her holiness which was exceptional.  Unfortunately her health had been permanently undermined by the privations of this time.  All the same, she was the life and soul of the community with her high spirits and intelligence.  In the offices she was given, her obedience often attained apparently miraculous heights.  As gardener she once broke the stem of a lily.  This called a severe reprimand and the order to plant the severed stem and water it every day.  This was faithfully carried out, even in winter or when the door was locked and she had to climb out of a window.  But the stalk took root and produced bulbs which later flowered in the garden at Chichester.
*******

Mary Hopkins, aged forty six, living in Stoke Goddington, saw the notice in the Catholic Directory of the death of Sister Mary Ignatia who died at Thorigny aged forty six.  ‘Why not take her place?’ she thought, and offered herself to the community.  So Sister Mary Juliana became a great Carmelite, very austere, devoted to the Rule and a generous worker.  Her clothing ceremony decided Bonne Marist’s vocation.  As Sister Mary Magdalen she was given charge of Madame Cécile, the old Bernardine nun, who had asked and obtained permission to sty with her Carmelite sisters. 

Three years at Thorigny were more than enough to induce Fr. Marest to look for a better home.  This he found at Valognes where the Hotel Beaulieu was up for sale.  The house at Thorigny was sold for 20,000 francs and the Beaulieu mansion was made ready as a Carmel.  The inhabitants of Valognes gave the nuns a warm welcome, showing them every kindness for the forty years they remained there.

*******

Charles X, the last of the Boarnon monarchs, passed through Valognes as he fled to England in 1830.  Ten year old Bon Marest, Fr. Marest’s nephew, was staying with his uncle at Beaulieu and had made up his mind to sally forth to join the crowds and show his loyalty to his fallen sovereign.  Fr. Marest had other ideas.  He was confined to the house with an attack of gout brought on by grief at the king’s downfall.  He therefore forbade the boy to go out alone.  Bon’s royalist enthusiasm got the better of his obedience and he stole out, but his escapade was discovered.  In Bon’s estimation the thrill of the adventure far outweighed the penance imposed by an irate uncle.

After the exile of Charles X a search was made all over France for his ill-starred minister, the Prince de Polignac.  One day the manservant of Carmel was stopped by soldiers on his way to market with a big black pig in a covered cart.  The soldiers insisted that Polignac was in the cart and threatened to search it.  ‘Yes, here he is’ cried Bocage, throwing back the cover and exposing the pig.  

The English nuns were horrified by the Gallican views of many of the French bishops and priests.  This exploded one day in the speak house, where Mother Teresa Maria was conversing with a bishop.  She exclaimed indignantly ‘My Lord, if you were not my Lord, I would say something!’  With perfect courtesy he replied ‘I put my lordship under the table.  Now say what you wish’, which no doubt she did.  A similar incident occurred in her last illness.  The doctor and the priest met in her room and, supposing her to be in a coma, they exchanged a few remarks which were not to her liking.  She startled them by calling out from her bed ‘Remember that I am a daughter of the Church!’

*******

The hospitality of the community was extended to an old priest, Fr. Dumanoir, who had asked help from Fr. Marest as he had literally nowhere to live.  He was comfortably settled in the out-quarters, becoming a companion to Fr. Marest though not his equal in intellectual attainments.

In the summer of 1836 Francis Weld, the grandson of Thomas Weld, the friend of Canford days, arrived at Valognes to live in Carmel’s out-quarters under the tutelage of Fr. Marest.  The seventeen year old boy combined the faith of his forefathers with a rare talent for mischief.  Good old Abbé Dumanoir was often the victim.  A wide parapet ran along under the windows.  Along this stealthily crept Francis carrying a stick dressed up in one of Fr. Marest’s cassocks.  When he reached the old Abbé’s window he made the scarecrow grow and grow until the frightened old man cried out ‘Qu’est ce que c’est que cela?’ bring Fr. Marest hurrying to his aid.

Although some of pranks earned a good scolding from Mother Teresa Maria, the nuns kept a tender corner for him in their hearts, and tried when possible to alleviate his lonely existence.   Since he had a great devotions to relics and the community’s collection was by now quite large, he was encouraged to arrange them into reliquaries with the help of Sister Mary Baptist, who was sent to the speakhouse for this purpose.

Fr. Marest objected to the young man’s visits to the speakhouse, fearing his studies would suffer.  One evening the old gentleman was invited out to supper and this was signified to Mother Teresa Maria by Francis.  Leave was given to some of the younger nuns to spend the hour of recreation with him.  Scarcely had the conversation begun when Francis was seized with panic: ‘He is coming back – I know he is, I can feel it!’  ‘He can’t be’ said the nuns ‘He has only just gone.’   ‘Listen!’ insisted Francis and sure enough a heavy footfall could be heard in the passage outside.  There was only time for the grate to be shut and for Francis to disappear into the maid’s room when Fr. Marest appeared.  Francis stood behind the open door not daring to breathe, while his reverend tutor surveyed the apparently empty rooms, murmuring to himself ‘I was sure he would be here.’  At last he turned and continued on his way to his dinner party, under the impression that his instincts had led him astray.
*******

Unexpectedly a letter arrived from Rome in 1837.  The writer was Louisa Hartwell, who as a child of four had visited the Carmel at Canford House.  She was now professed as Sister Teresa Gonzaga of the Cross in the Carmel of Ronciglione.  This began a regular correspondence which went on for ten years.  AS notice mistress she describes the entrance of Rosa Capomazza: ‘She is nineteen and very handsome, and has had great difficulty in getting her parents to allow her to enter.  They insisted on her remaining a year on trial before her clothing…’  At the end of nine months the parents insisted on her leaving, and Rosa became the Duchess della Regina.  When her daughter, Sacha, entered the Chichester Carmel in 1883 the Duchess explained her own temporary sojourn in Carmel as her parents’ ruse to remove her from the attentions of a suitor very much below her station!

*******

Sister Mary Juliana had a married sister who had died, leaving one daughter, Mary Teresa.  This girl’s one desire was to enter Carmel in spite of her delicate health.  In 1856 she came to Valognes to stay in the out-quarters, intending to enter as soon as permission was given.  At the age of twenty eight she was far gone in consumption, but her beauty was so striking that whenever she went out the women of Valognes came to their doors to watch her pass by.

Knowing that her life was to be a short one, she hoped to be allowed to die a professed Carmelite.  Her chance came when the Bishop of Coutances made his canonical visitation, and she seized it, begging him to give permission for her reception.  Realising that she had only a few months to live he urged mother Mary Baptist to receive and clothe her.

She chose the name Mary of the Immaculate Conception, and, radiant with joy she was led to the Chapter House to receive the habit from the Prioress.  In a simple white dress, her hair flowing in golden ringlets, she knelt on a carpet bordered with fresh flowers from the garden while the usual questions were put to her.  She answered unhesitatingly and a light habit was slipped over he slim shoulders.  Her lovely hair was cut off and she laid it on Our Lady’s altar together with her jewellery.  The next four months she spent in the infirmary, sometimes joining the community at recreation.  When she was actually dying, her aunt, Sister Mary Juliana and Mother Mary Baptist watching beside her, she begged to be allowed to make her vows.  This was granted and she pronounced them in the hands of her Prioress, looking like an angel and radiantly happy.  The next few hours she spent in prayer, pausing now and them to ask what offering she should make next, and so breathed her last in the early morning of September 1st.  She left the whole of her small fortune to the community.
About this time Fr. Marest received a letter from the Bishop of Bayeux concerning the proposed foundation of a Carmel in Lisieux.  The Bishop, who was none other than the community’s old friend, Dancell, wished the nucleus of the new Carmel to be supplied by members of the Valognes Carmel.  This was not thought possible by Mother Mary Baptist, since an English community which was under obligation to return to England as soon as possible, was not in a position to found a French one.  All the same Fr. Marest was consulted on many of the details of the new foundation, and the two Mlles Gosselin were sent to him for his opinion on their vocation.  

Toward the end of the summer Francis Weld left Valognes, having spend two years under the tutelage of Fr. Marest.  He had become irrevocably attached to the community, especially to Mother Mary Baptist whom he called the ‘mother of my soul.’

*******

In 1862 the intention to return to England began to take practical shape.  In November Bishop Grant of Southwark put Mother Mary Baptist into communication with Miss Hales of Hale Place near Canterbury.  This lady had entered the Carmel of the Rue de Messine with the intention of founding a Carmel on her property in England, which she seems not to have renounced when making her vows.  Having heard from Bishop Grant of the English community at Valognes Sister Mary Clare Hales transferred thereto, offering Hales Place to Mother Mary Baptist.  Fr. Allain, the Valognes chaplain who had succeeded Fr. Marest, was not prepared to continue in that capacity in England, but he valiantly escorted Mother Mary Baptist and Sister Mary Teresa across

The Channel to view the property.  They were attired as ‘respectable widows’, he ‘en bourgeois.’

Hales Place was most suitable and the promised endowment sufficient, but Sister Mary Clare’s inexperience and imprudence caused the whole affair to fizzle out.  Meanwhile, the French Government, learning that the community were making plans to leave France, laid claim to Beaulieu on the pretext that the community was extinct.  With some difficulty this was overcome, but then the Bishop of Coutances made it plain that he was not ready to part with them.  Francis Weld, who had returned from Rome a Monsignor, acted as go-between for the two bishop, the English and the French.

Now the authentic benefactress comes on the scene.  Elizabeth Sophia Warner had known the Valognes Carmel from her childhood and was a devoted friend of Mother Mary Baptist.  She was at this time living alone in Warner Cottage, a lovely property in Bath.  On one of her visits to Valognes in 1866 she promised to leave all she possessed to the community with a view to their re-establishment in England.  Since she appeared to be in excellent health, this offer did not bring the move into the immediate future.

During this period of uncertainty the community made the acquaintance of one who proved to be a life-long devoted friend.  Charles Roskell, on leaving Beaumont College, was sent to perfect his French with the curé of the parish of Valognes.  His father first introduced Charles to Carmel and begged Mother Mary Baptist to look after him.  This she did so well that Charlie came to her in all his troubles and scrapes.  
The curé must have been awe-inspiring for the main in tears sought Charlie’s help when she dropped her bucket down the well.  He gallantly descended the well, calling the gardener to stand by and pull him out.  As luck would have it the terrified maid lost her nerve and fled indoors to call the curé, who arrived to see Charlie emerge covered with slime and clutching the bucket.  The holy anger was so terrible that Charlie fled before it, making for friendly Carmel.  He declared that he had not the courage to face the cure again, but Mother Mary Baptist advised him to go back quietly to the presbytery, clean himself and go down to dinner as though nothing had happened.  This advice was followed and the curé said not a word.  In one of her letters Mrs. Roskell mentioned ‘Charlie says that Reverend Mother is a brick’, which brought forth from Mother Mary Baptist the self accusation ‘I must have been too hard on the poor boy!’

*******

There must have been some good reason why towards the end of the year 1868, Sophie Warner as she preferred to be called, decided to leave only part of her property to Carmel, the rest being intended for Mgr. Capel of the Westminster Diocese.  This reduction in the legacy would mean putting off the community’s plan indefinitely.  Her lawyer was in fact setting out from London to discuss the matter with her, when she suffered a stroke as she was sitting quietly at home reading the Life of St. Teresa.  By her will everything was left to the community.

The obvious thing would be to adapt the beautiful Bath property as a Carmel, and discussions between the Bishop of Coutances, Fr. Gravey the new chaplain, and Mg. Francis Weld resulted in the decision to view the property.  Mother Mary Baptist started at once for Bath, accompanied as usual by Sister Mary Teresa.  They found various unauthorised persons making free with the goods of their deceased mistress, but Mother Mary Baptist’s chairty and charming manners won over the servants until they were all ready to help her in every way.

Apart from the fact that the Bishop of Clifton was not ready with a warm welcome, as he already had one Carmel in his Diocese, there were several inconveniences, including the position of the house on an almost perpendicular hill such as abound around Bath.  Since the situation was clearly unsuitable, the advice of Bishop Grant was followed: to sell the property and build a convent in the Southwark Diocese.

Before returning to Valognes the two travellers called at the Darlington Carmel to discuss building plans.  Fr. Brown, the chaplain, undertook to find a suitable site, so they went back leaving the business in his capable hands.  A Carmel is not an ordinary dwelling.  It must be sufficiently remote for silence and remote for silence and recollection, yet near enough to civilization to survive.  After several unsuccessful attempts land was found to be up for sale a short distance from the city of Chichester.

Once more Mother Mary Baptist was obliged to set out for England, accompanied by the faithful Sister Mary Teresa, to decide on the suitability of the land at Chichester.  This time, travelling from Valognes they stopped one night at the Parish Carmel, then at the Rue d’Enfer, spending Sunday with the community.  The two English Carmelites were struck by the austerity of the looks of their French sisters, and by the simplicity of Sister Mary of St. Joseph (Lady Minna Howard) then a young professed nun.

The land at Chichester was found to be eminently suitable, and was bought in March 1870.  The ‘lot’ consisted of two pieces of land, one each side of a lane leading to Selsey, the ponds in the corners of the fields indicating a good water level.  Adam’s Marsh, the seven acres on the west of the lane, was chosen for building, allowing for about two acres of enclosure garden, and outside the enclosure, pasture for three cows.  Berrymead, the field opposite, was let to a local farmer.  Mr. Charles Buckler, the brother of the well-known Dominican, Fr. Reginald Buckler, was engaged as architect, and the building contract was signed with Chiesmans of Brighton.
*******

Spirits rose at Valognes when Mother Mary Baptist relayed all the details of the sale, adding ‘Now Father Brown will see to everything, and I shall not have to go over there again till we all go together.’  By thins time, she was on such friendly terms with Fr. Brown that he took to signing his letters to her ‘Gratian.’  Fr. Gravey paid regular visits to the building site, while the community waited in peace, expecting to pass from one convent to the other.

Providence arranged otherwise!  Napoleon declared war on Prussia in July 1870.  His action only served to reveal the superiority of the Germans both in numbers and in generalship, for, although the attack was a surprise, they organised their troops into three well disciplined armies within a fortnight.  The result was a foregone conclusion.  As the Prussians made steadily for Paris, panic spread through the country.  Rumours were flying – the Germans were said to be making for Valognes and the friends of the community urged an immediate flight to England although the new convent was scarcely begun.  Indeed it was expedient that Mother Mary Baptist should be present as the building rose.

The devoted Valognes friends, led by Mde. De Folleville and Mlle. D’Ozourville, rallied round to help with the packing, sending in trunks and bags of all sizes.  Mgr. Weld had charted a Southampton steamer, the Fawn, and it was lying off Cherbourg.  For a whole week Monsignor was in his element, back and forth between the ship and the convent, taking the packages as they were ready until he announced ‘The captain says not another thing must be sent down or the ship will sink!’

On one of the hottest days of that August week the Bishop of Coutances drove to the convent, accompanied by his young secretary, to give the nuns his parting blessing.  By this time the enclosure was ipso facto in abeyance, and the two walked into the recreation room, which was strewn with packing cases.  Here the Bishop’s feelings overcame him and he broke down, sobbing

‘How could I have ever given you leave to go!’, while the young priest, looking melancholy as only a Frenchman can, sat on a crate, sighing deeply.  The Bishop told the French members of the community, who numbered five, that they were at perfect liberty to remain in their own country where other Carmels would welcome them, but one and all stoutly refused.
Although the weather was very hot, the decision was made to wear the habits covered with secular disguise.  Hearing of this resolve, Mde. De Folleville and Mlle. D’Ozouville sent in rolls of brown material for skirts, black straw bonnets complete with net veils and large shawls of every design and colour to finish the outfit!

At length the morning of departure dawned, September 15th 1870.  No one in the town was aware of the time of leaving: this had been kept dark otherwise the whole town would have turned out to escort the nuns to the station.  At ten o’clock the community was assembled in the recreation room, each one adorned with a brown skirt, a black bonnet with a black net veil and a shawl.  Some of these last were handsome, but many were decorated with gaudy coloured flowers.  The general appearance was so striking that, on first seeing them, Mgr. Weld exclaimed ‘Where on earth did you get those shawls?’  Each nun carried a bag or bundle with last minute luggage, and Mgr. was there to escort them on the journey.  There was no time for conversation as they were to catch the 11 o’clock train to Cherbourg where the Fawn awaited them.

On alighting at Cherbourg they were accosted by a French official who asked Marie who they were.  ‘Good Englishwomen’ she replied ‘who are returning to their country.’  ‘Not Prussian spies?’ he asked suspiciously.  ‘Oh no!  Really good gentlewomen.  I know them well.’

The ship was not to weigh anchor till nine in the evening, and by six Charlie Roskell had joined the party.  With his usual consideration he was helping all round, taking the parcels and stowing them in the cabin.  He offered to relieve Sister Anne Teresa of a wicker basket, but she refused to let it go out of her hand.  ‘Please, no, it is Colley my sea-gull and he must not escape!’  Colley’s mission in life was to devour the slugs in the garden and his mistress considered him indispensable.  

Eventually all were on board with Mgr. Weld in charge, for the chaplain, Fr. Gravey, stayed in Valognes with Marie to settle the property there before joining the community in England.

Sister Mary Bernard, with her usual energy, and wishing to remain as undisturbed as possible, chose for her bed a huge pile of bedding close to one of the cabin windows.  Her hermit life soon came to an end, for when the ship rode out of the harbour the waves began to splash into her window, and ‘Excuse me, miss’ as one of the crew stretched over her to close it.  She declared that her subsequent sea sickness was entirely due to this shock and not to the motion of the ship.  As night fell they all found corners to sleep in, and Mgr. Weld, like a faithful watchdog, wrapped himself in a rug and stretch himself across the top of the cabin stairs.

*******

Morning came and Mgr. called his greetings down the stairs: ‘How is Reverend Mother?’  and ‘Is there anything for Charlie to eat?’  No one in the cabin was interested in food, but the provisions were opened for his choice, and, tearing the leg off a chicken, he handed it to the hungry boy.  Colley was having time of his life on deck, answering from his hamper the cries of his brethren and trying in vain to join them.

The captain had orders from Mgr. Weld to make for a private port called Dell Quay about two miles from Chichester.  Most of the travellers stayed in the cabin until the south coast of England was sighted.  As Selsey Bill appeared spirits rose, and the little Fawn sturdily ploughed the waves, reaching Dell Quay at one o’clock.  A Customs official appeared, grumbling ‘This is not the port for steam vessels.  You should have gone on to Southampton.  Anyway you can’t land any goods here.’  Mgr. cut him short with the information that he was a cousin of the Duke of Norfolk to whom these ladies were well known, so no trouble need be anticipated.  A handsome tip followed these remarks and the goods were landed without more ado.  Charlie Roskell escorted the nuns to a nearby inn, where they were charged very much for very little, while Mgr. went to inform Fr. Duke, the parish priest of St. Richard’s, of their arrival.

Fr. Duke had rented a suitable house at a nearby village called Mundham, where the community could stay while their convent was being built.  Mother Mary Baptist wrote to Fr. Gravey, who was anxiously looking for news of the nuns’ safety.  ‘We have been to see the house which Fr. Duke has engaged for us at Mundham.  It is the best possible.  There is a kitchen garden, orchard, and sufficient grazing for one cow, and both Fr. Duke and Mgr. think you had better bring over one of ours.  We have seen the new convent and I was quite satisfied with the progress of the building.’
The two priests accompanied the nuns to Mundham House and stayed to help with the luggage.  They struggled manfully with cases, crates and packages of every shape and size.  The last case containing all Sister Mary Magdalen’s pots of jam was joisted off the cart by Sister Teresa Joseph and Sister Teresa Francis.  The former missed her footing on the steps and crash went the heavy case, which had overcome the dangers of rail and sea.  Jam flowed over the steps and Sister Mary Magdalen, who lapsed into French in moments of stress, called ‘Au secours!  Au secours!’

*******

The community set to work to arrange their new home.  The best room on the ground floor was furnished as the chapel, with the chaplain’s room opposite.  Next morning Sister Teresa Francis, whose sharp eyes missed nothing, saw a man crossing the lawn and disappearing behind the house.  She gave the alarm, but before any active measures could be taken he re-appeared with a watering can and started watering the geraniums on the lawn.  He was of course the gardener, and he was forthwith engaged as gardener cum cowman to the community.  Charles Barnet was the old fashioned type of servant, respectably Church of England and thoroughly trustworthy.
Fr. Gravey was soon able to leave Marie at Beaulieu to take up his duties as chaplain at Mundham House.  Being himself an expert gardener, every fine day saw him accompanied by Barnet, at the building site to lay out the garden.  He had no faith in anything produced in England, and set to France for all the seeds and plants, even artichokes, haricots and chives.  Fruit trees were trained on the walls until eventually every inch was covered.  For well over half a century these trees yielded abundant crops of lovely French pears, peaches, plums and apricots.

One of the trials faced, and dealt with, by Mother Mary Baptist was the outrunning of the contract.  Rather than incur debt she postponed the building of the church until funds should cover all the cost.  Trying also was the constant battle with the architect whose ideas were all on the lines of mediaeval monasticism.  He fancied a dim cloister as became a contemplative monastery, and he planned small windows high up in the walls of the cells.  Mother had to fight for every window, and she gained a remarkable victory, for the convent is as light and airy as anyone could wish.  

*******

The new convent was the object of intense interest throughout the surrounding countryside.  Extra trains and coaches were laid on from Brighton and other places to cater for the crowds who flocked to Chichester on Sundays and holidays to view the convent.  The floors were so damaged by the hobnailed boots of the visitors that the rooms on the ground floor had to be planed.  By the express wish of Bishop Danell, the foreman gave the crowd full liberty to examine the premises.  He was usually asked where was the prison cell, and his answer to this and other queries was more readily accepted from the fact that he himself was not a Catholic.  The daughters of the Bishop of Chichester regretted that the refectory was not to be used as a ballroom.

The bell from Valognes, bearing the name of Thèrése Camille (de Soyecourt) was sent over to Chichester and hung in the new belfry.  This was the last item to be transferred, and Beaulieu was sold to the Sisters of Charity.  Now Marie could leave, arriving at Mundham on August 19th 1871.  No sooner had she taken up her duties when she hastened to open the door to a caller.  To her utter surprise there on the doorstep was the dignified figure of Archbishop Manning.  He was ushered into the house, overwhelming the nuns by the shabbiness of his attire.  His suit of rusty black was too short, and his cotton gloves too long, but the dignity of his presence was in no way diminished.  He asked the visit the little chapel and as he knelt there on the ground in prayer, his head leaning on his stick, the nuns were touched by the poverty of his appearance.
By April 1872 the convent was finished and considered dry enough.  The first member of the community to enter the enclosure was Sister Anne Teresa, one of the two young French sisters.  She died suddenly in March at Mundham House and was brought to the convent, the first to be buried in the new cemetery.  The local paper had a paragraph on the event.  ‘On the afternoon of Wednesday last, considerable attention was attracted by the funeral of a nun of the Carmelite Order at the new convent near Chichester.  A description of the building appeared in the West Sussex Gazette a few weeks ago.  A young French lady, Leah Levionnais about 30 years of age had recently died at the abode of the nuns at North Mundham and it was decided that the place of interment should be within the enclosed ground of the convent, and in that portion of ground to be consecrated as a cemetery, and adjacent to the spot on which the convent chapel will be erected…….  Mr. Denman, manager of the convent works, was among the mourners.  A number of visitors from the city were present and we accommodate within the rooms overlooking the grounds, and many took the opportunity of inspecting the building.’
At the beginning of May 1872 the community left Mundham House to take possession of their new home.  Fr. Brown, chaplain of Darlington Carmel, was there to bless it.  As he entered the building  with Fr. Gravey the latter took off his biretta thereby calling down on himself a remonstrance from Fr. Brown: ‘You are taking off your hat to the devil!’  All being duly blessed and sanctified, Mgr. Weld said the first Mass in the small temporary chapel on May 4th.  On that occasion he brought with him Lady Arundel and Lady Tichborne with the latter’s seven years old son, Henry.
Good old Barnet took up his abode in the bothy by the cowshed just outside the enclosure wall.  Very soon he asked to be received into the Church, and was delighted to find that Canon Walker who instructed him was himself a convert.  The reception took place in the convent chapel, the Canon encouraging him to read out his profession of faith so that the ‘ladies’ behind the grate could hear, with the result that the Canon was nearly shot out of the chapel.

A younger man named Tugwell was employed to assist Barnet, and he also became a Catholic a few years later.  These two looked after the garden under the direction of Fr. Gravey, and also after the three cows, while Marie reigned supreme in the outquarters.

*******

Marie whose English was nil and her French not very lucid, was required to do the shopping for the community.  So Mother Sub-prioress’s mother came to stay for a few days to introduce her to the shops.  Marie’s spirits were high and she talked at the top of her voice all the way waving her umbrella, pointing with it to everything in sight.  The first stop was the draper’s shop to buy sewing cotton.  Marie spied the assistant’s ball of string on the counter, and hooked it over the handle of her umbrella, saying it would be useful to the sisters.  With difficulty this crisis was overcome and they proceeded to the ironmonger’s for fire irons.  Marie was handed courteously a piece of chamois leather with which to handle the irons, but this she scorned, dragging them out of their cases until the exasperated assistant turned to Mrs. Neville: ‘If I could speak French I should say something to your maid!’

*******

Ten years passed before the first postulant presented herself.  A lovely girl of eighteen, she had wandered into a Catholic church during Benediction and was so overcome by the sense of the Real Presence that she asked for instruction.  The next grace was her call to Carmel.
While she was still a novice Fr. Coleridge sent a twenty year old, richly endowed by nature and grace, and six months later he presented to the community a lively young Neapolitan, none other than the daughter of the Duchess della Regina, whose escapade in the Ronciglione Carmel was related in a former chapter.

These three were still under Mother Mary Baptist’s tutelage when she was taken by surprised by the appearance of a small, old-fashioned, very self-possessed person, from whom she had heard five years before.  Hannah had been accepted at that time, but her Protestant father forbade her to leave home.  Now aged twenty four she felt entitled to her freedom and left her Liverpool home at dead of night.
On these four eager young souls, soon to be joined by a fifth, Mother Mary Baptist built the future of Chichester Carmel.  Her careful training, thoroughly Teresian, was faithfully passed on from generation to generation.  Years later, when the Lisieux Carmel published Ste. Therese’s doctrine of Spiritual Childhood, these five declared that it was identical with the training they had received from Mother Mary Baptist.

*******

Faithful Marie died suddenly in February 1886, the Bishop allowing her to be buried in the enclosure cemetery among the nuns she had served so well.  The shock of this sudden death affected Mother Mary Baptist so much – she was eighty one – that she developed jaundice.  Dr. Gasquet came at once from Brighton, though he himself was suffering from a severe attack of lumbago.  He had seen her so often rise from a prostrate condition that he was optimistic, especially as her manner was as cheerful as usual, and her concern all for others.  She sympathised with his pains, and called after him as he left her room ‘Mind you take a cab, doctor!’

This was her last day on earth and her thoughts were centred on eternity.  The community visited her as usual that evening and she had words of encouragement for all.  ‘All passes the sweets and the bitters.  Nothing remains but what has been done only for God!’  One of the sisters reminded her of the long years she had spent in Carmel and her blue eyes lit up with you.  ‘Sixty years! And it seems like one long day.’  She passed away calmly in the early hours of the morning.

*******
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